20419-2

70419.2

No. 70419-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUAN CRUZ-GRIJALVA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATE OF WASHING

ELAINE L. WINTERS

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

.

The trial court erred by denying Juan Cruz-Grijalva's March
18, 2013, motion for a new attorney.

2. The trial court erred by denying Juan's November 21, 2012, motion for a new attorney.¹

3. Juan's Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination was violated when the court admitted his custodial statements to Officer Luckie in the absence of proof that Juan knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his constitutional right to remain silent.

4. The trial court erred by concluding that Juan understood and voluntarily waived his constitutional right to remain silent.

5. Juan's Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination was violated when the court admitted his custodial statements to Officer Nicholson in the absence of proof that Juan knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his constitutional right to remain silent.

¹ Although he was charged in adult court, Juan is referred to by his first name because he was a juvenile when the offense occurred.

6. The trial court erred by concluding that a reasonable person in Juan's position would believe he was not in custody when he was questioned by Officer Nicholson.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant's constitutional right to counsel is violated when he is forced to proceed with an attorney with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. When the defendant asks to discharge his court-appointed attorney, the court must inquire into the nature and extent of the purported conflict. Juan asked the court to appoint new counsel because his attorney was not preparing a defense or explaining the case to him, and he later renewed the motion, adding that the lawyer had withheld evidence from him. Both times the court denied Juan's motion without posing the questions necessary to understand the nature of his dissatisfaction with his attorney. Was Juan's constitutional right to counsel violated when the court denied his motions for a substitute attorney? (Assignments of Error 1-2).

2. The state and federal constitutions guarantee a suspect the right not to incriminate himself. Prior to admission of a defendant's custodial statement, the court must determine if the defendant

knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his constitutional rights to remain silent and to consult with an attorney.

a. Officer Luckie arrested Juan, read the <u>Miranda</u> rights orally, and interrogated Juan without asking if he waived his constitutional rights. The trial court ruled that Juan validly waived his constitutional rights because (1) Juan orally stated that he understood the rights, and (2) there was no evidence the waiver was made under duress, but the court failed to take Juan's age into account in determining that the 16-year-old validly waived his constitutional rights. Were Juan's Fifth Amendment rights violated by the introduction of his custodial statements against him at trial in the absence of evidence of a knowing, intelligent, and voluntarily waiver? (Assignments of Error 3-4).

b. Officer Nicholson did not advise Juan of his <u>Miranda</u> rights prior to questioning him. Without considering Juan's youth, the trial court found that the officer was not required to inform Juan of his Fifth Amendment rights because Juan was not under arrest and was not handcuffed or in a patrol car. Juan had been patted down, he was standing at the hood of a patrol car surrounded by several armed police officers and patrol cars with their emergency lights flashing, and he

was not free to leave. Where a reasonable 16-year-old in his position would believe that he was in police custody, were Juan's Fifth Amendment rights violated by the admission of his oral statements to Officer Nicholson at trial? (Assignments of Error 5-6).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sixteen-year-old Juan Cruz-Grijalva was near his home where his family was gathering to celebrate his mother's birthday when he was stopped by Seattle Police Officer Scott Luckie. 2RP 80, 88-89; 4RP 44-45.² Officer Luckie was responding to a call of a recent robbery in the neighborhood, and he believed that Juan matched the description provided by the victim, Linda Geer. 2RP 80. Another officer drove Ms. Geer to the location where Juan was stopped, and she stated that Juan was the person who robbed her. 2RP 42-44. The King County Prosecutor charged Juan in superior court with first degree robbery with a deadly weapon with an additional deadly weapon enhancement. CP 7-8; RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(iv)(C).

² The verbatim report of proceeding of Juan's trial is referred to as follows: 1RP = 3/18/13

²DD = 2/20/12

²RP = 3/20/13 and 3/21/13 (containing court rulings and defense witnesses) 3RP = 3/25/13

⁴RP = 3/26/13

⁵RP = 3/17/13, 4/8/13, 4/18/13 and 5/15/13

^{11/21/12} RP = motion for new counsel before Judge Mary Roberts

The volume dated 3/20/13 and 3/21/13 that contains jury selection and opening statements will not be cited.

Prior to his omnibus hearing, Juan asked the court to appoint at new attorney to represent him because he did not believe his courtappointed attorney was working on his defense. 11/21/12 RP 4-5. Juan explained that trial counsel had not talked to him about the case or developed a defense and was not honoring his choice to go to trial. 11/21/12 RP 4-5. The court denied the motion. CP 6; 11/21/12 RP 6.

Juan renewed his motion for new counsel on the first day of trial before the Honorable Lori Smith. 1RP 6-8, 10-11. Judge Smith denied the motion on the grounds that Judge Roberts had already ruled on the motion, even after Juan revealed that he learned after the hearing before Judge Roberts that his lawyer had withheld evidence from him. 1RP 11-14.

At a CrR 3.5 hearing, the trial court ruled that Juan's pre-<u>Miranda</u> statements to Officer Erin Nicholson were admissible because they occurred prior to Juan's arrest and <u>Miranda</u> warnings were therefore not needed. 1RP 82. The court also ruled that Juan's postarrest statements were admissible even though the officer questioned Juan without obtaining an express waiver of his <u>Miranda</u> rights. 1RP 81-82. The court did not enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law.

At Juan's jury trial, Linda Geer testified that she noticed someone behind her as she was walking from her bus stop to her West Seattle home after work. 2RP 23-24, 28. When Ms. Geer slowed down to see if the man would pass her, he asked her what time it was, and Ms. Geer gave him the time. 2RP 29-31. When she looked up, the man was standing in front of her and asked her to give him the iPhone that she was holding in her hand. 2RP 32. Ms. Geer could see the blade of a knife in the man's hand. 2RP 33. Although it was dark and she was focused on the knife, Ms. Geer saw the robber's face. 2RP 30, 59.

Ms. Geer asked the man if she could first remove her personal information from her telephone. 2RP 33. The man told her to go ahead, and Ms. Geer spent a few minutes re-setting the iPhone. 2RP 34. When she was done, she held the telephone out and the man took it, returned Ms. Geer's ORCA card to her, and walked away. 2RP 35-36, 58. Ms. Geer continued home and, after about ten minutes, called the police. 2RP 37-38.

Officer Luckie was one of the Seattle Police officers dispatched to look for the robber, described as an Hispanic male in his early 20's, about 5'0" to 5'5" tall, wearing a dark "N.Y." or "New York" baseball

cap and a thick light green hooded jacket. 2RP 80-82. The officer saw Juan walking northbound on 35th Avenue and believed Juan met this description. 2RP 84. Juan was no longer on the street, however, when the officer made a U-turn to stop him. 2RP 85-86.

A few seconds later, Officer Luckie saw Juan step onto the sidewalk, no longer wearing the baseball cap the officer had earlier seen. 2RP 87. Officer Luckie pulled up to Juan, directed him to the hood of his patrol car, and frisked him. 2RP 88-89. Juan was wearing a gray jacket, not a green one. 2RP 108.

When other officers arrived, Officer Luckie asked them to watch Juan while Officer Luckie checked nearby residences for a knife and a cell phone. 2RP 89-90. Officer Nicholson talked to Juan about where he had been that evening. 3RP 57-59.

Officer Luckie found a New York Yankees baseball cap and some knit gloves in nearby yards, and he therefore handcuffed Juan and placed Juan under arrest. 2RP 91-93. Officer Luckie asked Juan if he had been in the area of the robbery, and Juan said he had ridden the bus to that area. 2RP 94. Juan explained that he was going to his mother's house, but also said he was going to a friend's home. 2RP 95. Officer Luckie opined that Juan's explanation of the location of the friend's

home changed over time and his description of his route did not make sense. 2RP 96. When asked why he removed his baseball cap, Juan stated he was afraid the officer might think he had stolen it. 2RP 96-97.

Ms. Geer was brought to Juan's location and asked if he was the person who took her cell phone. 2RP 42-43, 45-46. Officer Luckie placed the baseball cap he had found on Juan's head for the show-up. 2RP 99-100, 155. Ms. Geer identified Juan although she could only see the general shape of his face. 2RP 62; Ex. 17. Ms. Geer also identified Juan at trial. 2RP 25, 54.

The next day Officer Luckie found a knife with a four-inch blade in a neighboring yard. 2RP 100-01, 128. No fingerprints were found on the knife. 3RP 45.

Juan's sister Jennifer Valdez Grijalva explained that Juan lived with his mother in an apartment on the block where he was arrested. 4RP 44-45, 48-49. It was their mother's birthday, and the family was gathering to have dinner and go to church. 4RP 45. When she arrived, Juan was seated on the hood of a patrol car in handcuffs and surrounded by police cars. 4RP 46-47. She testified that Juan did not own a New York Yankees baseball cap. 4RP 47-48. Juan was convicted as charged. CP 22-23. Judge Smith sentenced him to 70 months in prison, followed by 18 months community custody. CP 57-58. This appeal follows. CP 52-53.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. Juan's constitutional right to counsel was violated when the trial court denied his motion to discharge his court-appointed attorney.

A criminal defendant has the right to counsel, which includes effective counsel who is working on his client's behalf. Juan twice asked the superior court to discharge his court-appointed attorney, expressing his concern that his attorney was not adequately explaining the case, was withholding evidence from him, and had not prepared a defense. The trial court, however, made only a limited inquiry concerning the problems in the attorney-client relationship. Juan's conviction must be reversed because the denial of his request for new counsel violated his right to effective assistance of counsel.

a. Juan had the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel.

The federal and state constitutions provide a criminal defendant with the right to counsel and to due process of law.³ U.S. Const.

³ The Sixth Amendment provides in pertinent part, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel

amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 22. Counsel's critical role in the adversarial system protects the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 684-85, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). "The very premise of our adversary system of criminal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will best promote the ultimate objective that the guilty be convicted and the innocent go free." <u>Cronic</u>, 488 U.S. at 655 (quoting <u>Herring v. New York</u>, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S. Ct. 2550, 45 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1975)).

"[T]he right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686 (<u>quoting McMann v. Richardson</u>, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n.14, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 25 L. Ed. 2d 763 (1970)); <u>accord State v. A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d 91, 96-98, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). The right to effective counsel is not fulfilled simply because an attorney is present in court; the attorney must actually assist the client and play a

for his defence." The Fourteenth Amendment states in part, "... nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law ..." The right to counsel found in the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment applies to the States. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963).

Article I, Section 22 provides in part, "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel..."

role in ensuring the proceedings are adversarial and fair. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 685; <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 98.

An indigent defendant does not have the right to choose a particular court-appointed attorney. <u>In re Personal Restraint of</u> <u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). Thus, the trial court has discretion to determine if a defendant's dissatisfaction with court-appointed counsel is meritorious and warrants appointment of new counsel. <u>Id</u>. The defendant must show good cause for substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the defendant and his attorney. <u>Id</u>. at 734; <u>Smith v. Lockhart</u>, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir. 1991).

The right to counsel is violated when a defendant is forced to proceed with an attorney who he does not trust or with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict or cannot communicate. <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 169 Wn. App. 436, 463, 290 P.3d 966 (2012), <u>rev. denied</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013); <u>Daniels v. Woodford</u>, 428 F.3d 1181, 1197 (9th Cir. 2005), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 550 U.S. 968 (2007); <u>United States v. Nguyen</u>, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2001); Brown v. Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1170 (D.C. Cir.

1970). The loss of trust and resulting breakdown in communication

results in the constructive denial of counsel.

Where a criminal defendant has, with legitimate reason, completely lost trust in his attorney, and the trial court refuses to remove the attorney, the defendant is constructively denied counsel.

Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1198 (quoting Brown, 424 F.2d at 1169).

b. The trial court improperly denied Juan's request for new counsel.

In reviewing the denial of a defendant's motion for new counsel, the appellate court considers (1) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry into the conflict; (2) the extent of the conflict between the accused and his attorney, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. <u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 724 (citing <u>United States v. Moore</u>, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 n.3 (9th Cir. 1998)); <u>Daniels</u>, 428 F.3d at 1197-98. An evaluation of the three factors demonstrates that the trial court improperly denied Juan's motion for a new attorney.

> *i.* <u>The trial court did not adequately inquire into</u> <u>the nature of Juan's dissatisfaction with his</u> <u>attorney</u>.

When a trial court learns of a conflict between a defendant and his counsel, the court must thoroughly inquire into the factual basis of the defendant's dissatisfaction. <u>State v. Dougherty</u>, 33 Wn. App. 466, 471, 655 P.2d 1187 (1982) ("A penetrating and comprehensive

examination by the court of the defendant's allegation will serve as the basis of whether different counsel needs to be appointed"), <u>rev. denied</u>, 99 Wn.2d 1023 (1983); <u>Smith</u>, 923 F.2d at 1320 (court has "obligation to inquire thoroughly into the factual basis of the defendant's dissatisfaction") (quoting <u>United States v. Hart</u>, 557 F.2d 162, 163 (8th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 434 U.S. 906 (1977)).

When an indigent defendant makes a timely and good faith motion requesting that appointed counsel be discharged and new counsel appointed, the trial court clearly has a responsibility to determine the reasons for the defendant's dissatisfaction with his current counsel. The court may not summarily deny a defendant's request for substitution of counsel because the defendant has failed to state, or stated in a vague and conclusory manner, the grounds for such discharge. It "generally has an obligation to engage the defendant in a colloquy concerning the cause of the defendant's dissatisfaction with his representation."

Wayne R. LaFave, Jerold H. Israel, Nancy J. King & Orin S. Kerr, <u>Criminal Procedure</u> § 11.4(b) at 700-02 (3rd ed. 2007) (footnotes and citations omitted) (quoting <u>United States v. Graham</u>, 91 F.3d 213, 221 (D.C. Cir. 1996), <u>cert. denied</u>, 519 U.S. 1136 (1997)).

"[I]n most circumstances, a court can only ascertain the extent of the breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions." <u>United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez</u>, 268 F.3d 772, 777-78 (9th Cir. 2001). The inquiry thus should include questioning the attorney or the defendant "privately and in depth" and examining available witnesses. <u>Nguyen</u>, 262 F.3d at 1004 (quoting <u>Moore</u>, 159 F.3d at 1160). Such an inquiry may also "ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern." <u>Adelzo-Gonzalez</u>, 268 F.3d at 777).

Juan made at least three requests for new counsel.⁴ On November 21, Juan appeared before Chief Judge Mary Roberts to request the appointment of new counsel. Juan told the court that he believed his trial attorney was ineffective and that they had a conflict. Juan explained that trial counsel was not handling the case with an eye to proving his innocence and was not honoring Juan's choice to go to trial. 11/21/12 RP 4. "I want a lawyer who is working with me and not against me." Id.

When Judge Roberts asked him for an example, Juan said that his attorney did not confer with him in jail and sometimes did not even answer the telephone when he called. 11/21/12 RP 4-5. The court then asked him how that would be different with a new attorney. Juan

⁴ Prior to jury selection, Juan asked the court to continue the case so that his family could retain private counsel. 2RP 4-6. In addition, Juan's desire to retain private counsel was cited as one of the reasons for an earlier continuance of the trial date. 1RP 8-9.

explained his only court appearances were for continuances. He added that defense counsel was not really trying and they had nothing to present at trial. 11/21/12 RP_5.

After inquiring of the prosecutor and defense counsel about the progress of the case, the court denied Juan's motion for a new attorney. CP 6; 11/21/12 RP 6. The court's ruling was based upon her understanding of Juan's case, her experience with Juan's lawyer, and the assurances of both counsel that defense counsel was preparing for trial. 11/21/12 RP 6.

On the first day of trial, Juan again requested that the court appoint new counsel and, in the alternative, asked that the case be continued so that his family could retain private counsel. 1RP 6, 7-8, 11. Juan related that his attorney had not explained the evidence against him so that he could understand the case. 1RP 7. The trial court denied the motion on the grounds that it had already been heard and denied by Judge Roberts and Juan had not presented any new issues. 1RP 11-12. Juan then explained that he learned after the hearing before Judge Roberts that defense counsel had withheld information from him. 1RP 12. He therefore lost his trust in defense

counsel and had "no faith that he will fight for me." 1RP 12-13. The court, however, refused to consider this new information. 1RP 13, 14.

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