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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. BOTH JUDGES PROPERLY DENIED CRUZ
GRIJALVA'S REQUESTS TO SUBSTITUTE 
COUNSEL. 

Cruz-Grijalva contends that two superior court judges 

abused their discretion in denying his requests to substitute 

counsel. Cruz-Grijalva's claim fails. The record shows that 

Cruz-Grijalva never provided a sufficient reason requiring 

substitution of counsel. Thus, both judges properly exercised their 

discretion in denying the requests. 

A criminal defendant does not have an absolute Sixth 

Amendment right to a choice of court-appointed counsel. State v. 

Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 
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523 U.S. 1008 (1998). Nor does the Sixth Amendment guarantee a 

"meaningful relationship" between a defendant and his attorney. 

Morris v. Siappy, 461 U.S. 1, 13-14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 75 L. Ed. 2d 

610 (1983). In fact, many times the relationship between counsel 

and his or her client can be quite acrimonious. See State v. 

Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. 347, 228 P.3d 771 (2010). Only when the 

"relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, the 

refusal to substitute new counsel violates the defendant's Sixth 

Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel." Stenson, 132 

Wn.2d at 722. Moreover, there is a difference between a complete 

collapse and mere lack of accord. Siappy, 461 U.S. at 13-14; State 

v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80, cert. denied, 549 U.S. 

1022 (2006). 

When reviewing a trial court's refusal to appoint new 

counsel, this Court considers (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the 

adequacy of the trial court's inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the 

motion. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 607. Whether an indigent 

defendant's dissatisfaction with appointed counsel is meritorious 

and justifies the appointment of new counsel is a matter within the 

sound discretion of the trial court. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 733. 
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a. Extent Of The Conflict. 

A criminal defendant who is dissatisfied with appointed 

counsel "must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, 

such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a 

complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and 

the defendant." Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 734. Cruz-Grijalva cannot 

show there was a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a 

complete breakdown in communication. 

"Attorney-client conflicts justify the grant of a substitution 

motion only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to 

prevent presentation of an adequate defense." State v. Thompson 

169 Wn. App. 436,457-58, 290 P.3d 996 (2012); State v. Schaller, 

143 Wn. App. 258, 268,177 P.3d 1139 (2007), rev. denied, 164 

Wn.2d 1015 (2008). Nothing in the record supports a finding that a 

conflict existed. While Cruz-Grijalva insisted that he had a conflict 

of interest with his attorney, he never expressed the nature of the 

alleged conflict. 

Upon inquiry by Judge Roberts as to the conflict, 

Cruz-Grijalva simply stated, "He's not handling my case in an 

effective manner to prove my innocence." 1 RP 4. Cruz-Grijalva's 

"general discomfort" with counsel's representation does not 
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constitute a "valid reason to replace appointed counsel." State v. 

Sinclair, 46 Wn. App. 433, 436,730 P.2d 742 (1986). Simply 

stated, general dissatisfaction with appointed counsel is not a 

conflict of interest. See Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 607 ("[A] conflict over 

strategy is not the same thing as a conflict of interest."). Cf. State 

v. James, 48 Wn. App. 353, 739 P.2d 1161 (1987) (conflict existed 

in representation of co-defendants); State v. White, 80 Wn. App. 

406, 907 P.2d 310 (1995) (a conflict of interest exists when a 

defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are 

adverse to those of the defendant). 

Furthermore, Cruz-Grijalva did not allege, nor is there 

evidence in the record to support a finding, that there was anything 

that came close to a complete collapse of the attorney-client 

relationship. Notably, Cruz-Grijalva did not tell the court that there 

was a breakdown in communication. Rather, he complained about 

his attorney not visiting him in the jail and not answering the phone 

when he called. 1 RP 5. Only when there is a complete breakdown 

in communication between the attorney and the defendant is the 

court required to appoint substitute counsel. State v. Varga, 151 

Wn.2d 179,200,86 P.3d 139 (2004); Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 734. 
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During Cruz-Grijalva's second request, he complained to 

Judge Smith that defense counsel was not explaining the trial 

strategy to him. 2RP 6. Strategy decisions are in the hands of 

defense counsel, not the client. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at 606. These 

general complaints do not support a basis for substitution of 

counsel. 

Cruz-Grijalva claims that his dissatisfaction with counsel was 

serious because he had lost faith in his public defender. Generally, 

a defendant's loss of confidence or trust in his counsel is not a 

sufficient reason to appoint new counsel. Varga, 151 Wn.2d at 

200. Cruz-Grijalva further argues that his attorney "withheld 

evidence" from him. However, nothing in the record supports this 

contention. Cruz-Grijalva never indicated to the trial court what 

evidence he believed his attorney was withholding. Unsupported 

general allegations of deficient representation are inadequate to 

support a motion to substitute, particularly when the motion to 

substitute is brought shortly before or during trial. State v. Staten, 

60 Wn. App. 163, 170,802 P.2d 1384 (1991). 

In short, Cruz-Grijalva cannot make a showing here that 

there was a conflict or a complete breakdown in communication. 

Both judges properly denied his request. 
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b. Adequacy Of The Trial Court's Inquiry. 

A court learning of a conflict between a defendant and 

counsel has an obligation to inquire thoroughly into the factual 

basis of the defendant's dissatisfaction. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 

at 462. Such an inquiry must "provide a sufficient basis for 

reaching an informed decision." kL. (citing United States v. 

Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 777 (9th Cir. 2001 )). In 

conducting such an evaluation, the court may need to evaluate the 

depth of any conflict between defendant and counsel, the extent of 

any breakdown in communication, how much time may be 

necessary for a new attorney to prepare, and any delay or 

inconvenience that may result from substitution . Thompson, 169 

Wn. App. at 462. 

Cruz-Grijalva argues that neither superior court judge made 

an inquiry into the reasons for his dissatisfaction with his attorney. 

However, the record demonstrates that Judge Roberts asked him 

specifically what the conflict of interest was. 1 RP 4. Cruz-Grijalva 

did not have an answer other than, "He's not handling my case in 

an effective manner to prove my innocence." 1 RP 4. Judge 

Roberts followed up by asking, "Is there something in particular 

that's going wrong between Mr. Beattie and you?" 1 RP 4. To this 
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specific question, Cruz-Grijalva simply replied that his attorney was 

not visiting him. 1 RP 5. 

To further his argument, Cruz-Grijalva claims that Judge 

Roberts only asked two open-ended questions. Although accurate, 

the court asked two very pointed questions. Given that the two 

specific questions did not evoke responses that would support 

appointment of new counsel, it is unlikely any further questioning 

would have revealed anything other than Cruz-Grijalva repeating 

that he wanted a new lawyer who would provide good 

representation. 

Likewise, Cruz-Grijalva failed to provide a valid reason the 

second time he made a request before Judge Smith. While 

acknowledging that he had not provided a good reason and did not 

know what to say the first time, Cruz-Grijalva complained that he 

had only received his discovery a month prior. 2RP 6-7, 12. This is 

not a valid reason to discharge counsel. Cruz-Grijalva then said 

that he had "realized" that his attorney had withheld information 

from him. 2RP 6-7, 12. Yet, he never provided any specific 

examples as to what information defense counsel withheld from 

him and how he had just "realized" it. 
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Both trial judges made the proper inquiry, and Cruz-Grijalva 

was unable to provide satisfactory answers. It is unlikely that 

further questioning by either judge would have revealed any valid or 

sufficient reasons for his request. 

c. The Timeliness Of The Motion. 

Courts have held that a motion to substitute counsel made 

two weeks before trial is timely. In re Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 

731-32, 16 P.3d 1, 13 (2001) (citing United States v. Moore, 159 

F.3d 1154, 1158 n.3 (9th Cir. 1998)). On the other hand, where the 

request for change of counsel comes during the trial or on the eve 

of trial, the court may, in the exercise of its sound discretion, refuse 

to delay the trial to obtain new counsel and therefore may reject the 

request. In re Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 731-32. 

The first request for substitution of counsel before Judge 

Roberts, made on November 21,2012, was timely. However, the 

requests made before Judge Smith on the first day of trial and prior 

to jury selection were untimely. 

Cruz-Grijalva argues that the second request raised an 

important new issue - that his attorney was withholding evidence. 

However, Cruz-Grijalva did not explain what evidence his attorney 
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was withholding. As already stated, unsupported allegations are 

inadequate, particularly when the motion is brought before or during 

trial. Staten, 60 Wn. App. at 163. Moreover, Cruz-Grijalva made 

this unsupported claim once he realized that he had not provided a 

good reason the first time he requested a new attorney because he 

"didn't even know what to say." 2RP 7, 12. Therefore, Judge 

Smith correctly denied his request, finding that he had not raised a 

new issue for the trial court to consider. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITIED CRUZ
GRIJALVA'S STATEMENTS TO THE POLICE. 

Cruz-Grijalva challenges the trial court's refusal to suppress 

the pre-arrest statements he made to Officer Nicholson, and the 

post-Miranda6 statements he made to Officer Luckie. As to his 

pre-arrest statements, Cruz-Grijalva claims that the court erred by 

concluding that a reasonable person in Cruz-Grijalva's position 

would not believe that he was in custody when he was being 

questioned by Officer Nicholson. And as to his post-arrest 

statements, Cruz-Grijalva argues that his statement to Officer 

Luckie was admitted without proof that he made a knowing, 

6 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436,86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 
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intelligent and voluntary waiver of his rights, in part because Officer 

Luckie did not ask Cruz-Grijalva if he wished to waive his rights and 

give a statement. To support both arguments, Cruz-Grijalva 

contends that the trial court failed to consider his youth. 

The State disagrees. Officer Nicholson had a brief 

conversation with Cruz-Grijalva while officers continued to 

investigate the robbery. Cruz-Grijalva was detained, but was not in 

custody. Officer Nicholson was not required to read Cruz-Grijalva 

his Miranda warnings. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the 

pre-arrest statements Cruz-Grijalva made to Officer Nicholson. 

Once Officer Luckie determined that Cruz-Grijalva was the 

. robbery suspect, he placed Cruz-Grijalva under arrest. Officer 

Luckie then read Cruz-Grijalva his Miranda rights and juvenile 

warnings. Cruz-Grijalva said that he understood his rights. 

Cruz-Grijalva knowingly and voluntarily waived his rights, answered 

Officer Luckie's questions, and provided a statement. Cruz-Grijalva 

then unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent, and the 

interrogation terminated. Therefore, the trial court properly 

admitted the statements to Officer Luckie. This Court should reject 

Cruz-Grijalva's claims. 
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a. Relevant Facts. 

After Officer Luckie responded to the robbery scene, he saw 

Cruz-Grijalva and directed him to move over to the hood of his 

patrol car. 2RP 24. Cruz-Grijalva complied. 2RP 24. Once 

Cruz-Grijalva was at the front of the patrol car, Officer Luckie 

frisked him for weapons because the officer knew there was a knife 

involved . 2RP 25; CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 13).7 After 

the frisk, Cruz-Grijalva was allowed to stand freely in front of the 

patrol car, but was not free to leave. 2RP 25. Other officers, 

including Officer Nicholson, arrived to assist in the investigation. 

2RP 26, 56; CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 14). Officer Luckie 

left to search the nearby yards for the baseball hat, and other 

officers stayed with Cruz-Grijalva. 2RP 26. As officers continued 

to investigate the robbery, Cruz-Grijalva was detained but was not 

under arrest or handcuffed . 2RP 26, 56-57; CP 70 (Undisputed 

Finding of Fact 13). 

Officer Nicholson then started a short conversation with 

Cruz-Grijalva. 2RP 57. Officer Nicholson did not know if 

Cruz-Grijalva had been advised of his Miranda rights. 2RP 58; CP 

7 The trial court entered its written findings of fact and conclusions of law on 
CrR 3.5 on May 14, 2014. CP 68-74. The trial court's written findings are 
consistent with the court's oral findings and ruling . 2RP 81-83. 
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70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 15). Officer Nicholson asked 

Cruz-Grijalva where he had been before being stopped. 2RP 58; 

CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 15). Cruz-Grijalva indicated he 

had been on the #54 bus earlier and had gotten off at a stop farther 

south on 35th Ave. SW. 2RP 58 CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 

15). Cruz-Grijalva also said he had gone to Safeway, which is 

located about half a mile from where Cruz-Grijalva had been 

detained. 2RP 58; CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 16). Officer 

Nicholson told Cruz-Grijalva he was being detained because he 

matched the description of someone the police was looking for. 

2RP 59; CP 70 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 17). This encounter 

lasted a couple of minutes. 2RP 60. 

Officer Nicholson then joined Officer Luckie in searching for 

evidence. 2RP 61. Officer Luckie found the New York Yankees 

baseball hat and black knit gloves in one of the yards; he went back 

to his patrol car where Cruz-Grijalva was located. 2RP 29. Officer 

Luckie placed Cruz-Grijalva in handcuffs and read him his Miranda 

rights from his police department reference book. 2RP 29-31; CP 

71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 22); Pretrial Ex. 2. Officer Luckie 

properly included the extra juvenile warning from the Miranda rights 
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form. 2RP 33; CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 22); Pretrial Ex. 

2. 

Officer Luckie finished reading the Miranda rights form with 

the question, "Do you understand each of these rights I have 

explained to you." 2RP 33; CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 23). 

Cruz-Grijalva indicated that he did. 2RP 34; CP 71 (Undisputed 

Finding of Fact 23). Cruz-Grijalva appeared to be alert and to be 

paying attention. 2RP 33. Cruz-Grijalva did not appear to have 

any trouble understanding the officer. 2RP 34. Cruz-Grijalva did 

not appear to have been under the influence of any alcohol or any 

controlled substances. 2RP 34. Officer Luckie testified that when a 

person does not appear to understand, he will try to figure out what 

it is that the person does not understand. 2RP 35. Officer Luckie 

did not have any concerns with Cruz-Grijalva. 2RP 35. 

The SPD form calls for the officer to ask the defendant the 

question, "Having these rights in mind, do you wish to talk to us 

now?" 2RP 46; Ex. 2; CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 24). 

Officer Luckie did not ask this last question. 2RP 46. Instead, once 

Cruz-Grijalva indicated that he understood his rights, the officer 

asked Cruz-Grijalva a question about the incident. 2RP 35, 46; 

CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 24). Given that Cruz-Grijalva 
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answered, Officer Luckie concluded that Cruz-Grijalva was willing 

to talk to him about it. 2RP 46; CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 

24). Cruz-Grijalva was neither hesitant nor reluctant to speak with 

Officer Luckie. CP 72 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 28). 

Officer Luckie asked Cruz-Grijalva where he was going, 

where he was coming from, and what he was doing. 2RP 35; 

CP 71 (Undisputed Finding of Fact 25). Cruz-Grijalva's answers 

did not make sense to Officer Luckie. 2RP 36; CP 71 (Undisputed 

Finding of Fact 25). Cruz-Grijalva said he was trying to go to his 

mother's house for her birthday but also said he was looking for a 

friend's house. 2RP 36. Cruz-Grijalva was unable to provide the

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